
Please ask for Democratic Services Telephone (01362) 656225 
email: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 

Committee - BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - MONDAY, 20TH JUNE, 2022 AT 10.00 AM 

Venue - THE BEECH ROOM, THE ENVIRONMENTAL 
HUB, GRESSENHALL FARM AND 
WORKHOUSE, GRESSENHALL, BEETLEY, 
DEREHAM, NR20 4DR 

 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Breckland Council Norfolk County Council 
  
Cllr Robert Kybird (Chairman) 
Cllr Claire Bowes 
Cllr Hilary Bushell 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
Cllr Chris Harvey 
 
 

Cllr Phillip Duigan (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Fabian Eagle 
Cllr Terry Jermy 
Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris 
Cllr William Richmond 
 

Co-optees Ex-Officio 
  
Dr K Robinson 
 

Mr J Ward 
R Kybird 
 

  

  
  

 
Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Monday, 9 June 2022  
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 

 
 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. CHAIRMAN   

 To elect a Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

 

2. VICE-CHAIRMAN   

 To elect a vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

 

3. MINUTES  3 - 17 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2022. 
 

 

4. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   

6. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972. 
 

 

7. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

8. ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT  18 - 27 

 To receive a report from Oliver Bone, Curator of Ancient House Museum. 
 

 

9. GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT  28 - 43 

 To receive a report from Andrew Smith, Operations Manager – West. 
 

 

10. NEXT MEETING   

 To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Monday, 26 
September 2022, venue to be confirmed. 
 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Monday, 28 February 2022 at 10.00 am in 
The Conference Suite, Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, 

Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 
PRESENT  
Cllr Robert Kybird (Chairman) 
Cllr Claire Bowes 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
Cllr Chris Harvey 

Cllr Phillip Duigan (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Terry Jermy 
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris 
 

 
Also Present  
Cllr Jane James 
Cllr John Ward 

 
 

 
In Attendance  
Dr Robin Hanley - Assistant Head of Museums 
Mr Oliver Bone 
 
Jenny Caynes 

- Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford 
Museums 

- Project Officer, Norfolk Museums Service 
- Friends of Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse 

Museum 
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 Action By 

 
 

1/22 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2021 were 

confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

 

2/22 APOLOGIES   
  
 Apologies had been received from Councillors Bushell, Eagle and 

Richmond and Andrew Smith and Keith Robinson. 
 

 

3/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
  
 None. 

 
 

4/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None. 

 
 

5/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 None. 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack

3

Agenda Item 3



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
 

6/22 ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT   
  
 The Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums, Oliver Bone 

presented the report on activities at the Ancient House, Museum of 
Thetford Life covering the period from November 2021 to February 
2022. He said that it felt really good for the Museum to be open and 
receiving visitors again after the long period of closure. He stated that 
all Norfolk Museums Service (NMS) had been closed and were now, 
on re-opening, offering a cautious approach with a focus on keeping 
staff and visitors safe through minimising the risk of transmission.  
 
Building works at the former King’s Head public house, a listed 
building next door to the Ancient House remained covered in 
scaffolding following the involvement of both Breckland District 
Council and the Health and Safety Executive. Repairs to the roof had 
been carried out in January 2022 and the scaffolding in front of the 
museum had now been removed, although the King’s Head 
scaffolding still remained. 
 
The museum had marked the 150th birth anniversary of Princess 
Catherine Duleep Singh, who had previously lived at Elveden Hall, 
with an exhibition in the hall of the Ancient House. Princess Catherine 
was the second daughter of the Maharajah Duleep Singh, the last 
Sikh ruler of the kingdom of the Punjab. The exhibition contained pop 
up graphics and artefacts on display, telling her story and featured a 
newly commissioned portrait of Princess Catherine by a leading 
contemporary artist Amandeep Singh, also known as Inkqusitive. 
 
In March 2022, the television programme, the Antiques Road Trip 
would be visiting Ancient House to film Peter Bance at the Museum to 
talk about Princess Catherine. Mr Bone said that when television 
programmes had previously visited, when the programme aired it 
increased the visitor numbers shortly afterwards and looked forward 
to this happening as a result of the filming having taken place at 
Ancient House. 
 
The main current exhibition was related to the Thetford Treasure, a 
hoard of gold and silver that had been found on the outskirts of 
Thetford in 1979. The British Museum had loaned items to the Ancient 
House for this display and had agreed to an extension until 2 May 
2022 to allow more people to see the exhibition which included gold 
jewellery and inscribed and decorated silver spoons. The NMS were 
grateful to the Trustees of the British Museum for the loan of the 
Thetford Treasure. Also on display was a hoard of roman glass 
objects that had been painstakingly pieced together by conservator 
colleagues which came from the Hockwold Hoard of glass, pewter 
and copper alloy finds from the roman temple site. This display would 
continue until July. 
 
Ancient House continued to be a part of the National Lottery-funded 
Brecks River and Fen Edge landscape project. They were currently 
working on a Vikings exhibition involving members of the Teenage 
History Group in choosing and curating artefacts and themes for 
display. It was hoped this would give a feel of early medieval Britain 

 

4



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
 

on the eve of the Vikings attacks that took place in the late ninth 
century. This exhibition should run from July and remain in place for a 
year. 
 
Councillor Jermy said that all of the lecterns and roundels had now 
been replaced on the Heritage Trail in Thetford, one of which was 
dedicated to the Vikings and was very keen to link this in with the 
Ancient House exhibition as he felt this could encourage visitors in the 
Museum to go on the trail and people from the trail to visit the 
museum. 
 
With the 100th Anniversary of the opening of the Ancient House 
Museum in 2024, work continued to make more of the unusual 
connections and to tell the story of the links between the Museum and 
the Maharajah Duleep Singh and his family. Mr Bone said he had 
been to London and seen a portrait of the Maharajah Duleep Singh 
painted by George Beechey when the Maharajah was approximately 
13 years of age and before he came to England. Early discussions 
were taking place to enable the loan and display of the portrait at 
Ancient House which he believed would be a great draw for visitors. 
He said and they were approaching the National Lottery Heritage fund 
to find out the best way to fund the project.  
 
Schools and teachers had been very keen to get back to in-person 
learning and workshops for school children and the Learning Officer, 
Melissa Hawker continued to be reactive to teachers needs and had 
adapted and developed bespoke sessions to support this. 
 
The Ancient House Museum continued to use social media with both 
Twitter and Facebook followers increasing. Staff had developed the 
Ancient House YouTube channel to include 77 short films, many of 
which had been created during the pandemic period. The Museum 
also continued to provide online talks and events and had recently 
worked with the Commonwealth Graves Commission to look at their 
work and history. 
 
In January the Museum held a hybrid event, a combination of both on-
site and online which had been a book launch of a new children’s 
book about Princess Sophia Duleep Singh which had enabled people 
to attend in person or from anywhere around the world. 
 
The Museum was very pleased to welcome back the Teenage History 
Club and History Club which had restarted. During the pandemic the 
History Club had been on pause while the Teenage History Club had 
continued via Zoom. The Teenage History Club had planned a Covid-
secure Escape Room for 5th March 2022 and all tickets had sold out. 
 
Currently volunteering on site was still suspended but they were 
working closely with the volunteers to enable indoor volunteering to 
recommence as soon as it was possible and safe to do so. 
 
The Friends of the Museum continued to support the Museum through 
fundraising and promoting the Museum in town. 
 

5



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
 

The Ancient House continued to feature on Radio Norfolk and with a 
regular slot in the monthly About Thetford magazine. The EDP 
provided a welcome boost to the museum’s publicity around the 
Thetford Treasure exhibition and Dr Priya Atwal had written a piece 
for the BBC History magazine about the Ancient House which had 
resulted in a number of additional visitors. 
 
Members of the Committee noted the report. 
 

7/22 GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT   
  
 Dr Robin Hanley, Assistant Head of Norfolk Museums Service, 

presented the report on activities for Gressenhall Farm and 
Workhouse that covered the period from November 2021 to January 
2022. He explained that although the reporting period covered a 
period when the museum was closed to the general public, there had 
been lots of activity. 
 
Dr Hanley thanked all museum staff across the region for working 
hard and responding creatively to work around museum closures and 
restrictions due to the pandemic. He felt that staff had been very 
imaginative and had been particularly inspired to develop a broad 
range of digital resources to support audiences, including resources 
for children and families and that the digital engagement had invited a 
significant expansion of social media activity. 
 
The museum continued to put staff and visitors’ safety as a priority 
and some guidance and infrastructure remained in place such as 
recommendations for the wearing of face masks, hand sanitizers and 
air circulation. It had been difficult, due to the age of the building, to 
ensure air circulation as there were no mechanical air systems in 
place so they were reliant on opening windows and doors which was 
not ideal due to the effect on the environment and security. The NMS 
had just taken receipt of some CO2 monitors across the service which 
would help manage spaces and assist in enabling volunteers to return 
to the museums. They were working closely with colleagues in the 
Norfolk County Council’s Health and Safety Team around the 
thresholds and HSE guidance and information on how to read the 
monitors, and what action to take would be posted by the monitors to 
tell staff how to react to the warning signs. 
 
As the site had been closed to the public during this reporting period, 
traditionally this was when any work was carried out across the 
museum and time was used for planning and preparation of events 
across the period ready for the re-opening of the museum. 
Gressenhall had organised several leisure learning short courses 
throughout the year. For this reporting period this included only one 
event which was an Apple Tree Pruning workshop for which tickets 
had been sold at full capacity. 
 
The events programme for the 2022 season had been developed with 
events and exhibitions scheduled. The first event of the year would be 
an open season trail commencing on the day of opening which would 
be Monday, 14 March 2022, and would run for three weeks. 

 

6



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
 

 
Dr Hanley stated that there was an interesting exhibition planned for 
the summer called Georgie Meadows: Stitched Drawings a touring 
exhibition curated by the Welcome Collection, which would open mid-
May and run until the end of the 2022 season. The exhibition collated 
together twenty textile artworks that explored personal experiences of 
ageing and dementia. Plans for an accompanying learning and events 
programme were being developed which it was hoped would include 
intergenerational work, a collaborative artwork and a series of talks. In 
addition, the previous season’s exhibition More in Commons would be 
extended until early May 2022 to give more visitors the opportunity to 
see it following the Covid-19 disruption during 2021.  
 
The new Gressenhall Curator, Rachel Kidd was assisting with the 
Farmer’s Foundry Company steam engine project to get this up and 
running for the new season and a training plan was being developed 
to ensure it could be safely operated by volunteers during event days. 
It was felt that the steam engine would be a great addition to the 
Gressenhall collection and enable steam days and would also be a 
great draw for visitors. 
 
With the support of the Friends of Gressenhall, two new Suffolk Punch 
horses had been purchased and welcomed to the farm by the Farm 
Manager Richard Dalton. Jack, 18 months old and Kingsman 9 
months old and it was hoped that they would be on site for many 
years adding to the existing team of working horses at Gressenhall. It 
was important to manage the safety of the public with such large 
animals so it would take time to embed them and get them fully 
trained and they would work alongside the older, more established 
horses for learning. It would take a number of years for the young 
horses to become fully trained. 
 
The new tree nursery being developed as part of the Gressenhall 
Environmental Hub project had been taking shape over the winter. 
The area had been fenced and now had raised beds and a poly tunnel 
was under construction. The nursery would be completed by late 
spring and the seed collected would be germinated, go into root 
trainers and then be planted in the raised beds. The long-term aim 
was to supply young trees to be planted at various sites around the 
county and supported the NCC ambition to plant a million trees for 
Norfolk as well as the DEFRA Trees Outside Woodland scheme. The 
outdoor landscaping volunteers had also been busy on site, assisting 
with several projects including the laying of hedges. These new 
hedges would help to create attractive stock proof boundaries around 
the farm. Work had also been undertaken in the woodland area to 
create pathways to improve visitor access. New bird boxes had also 
been installed. Later in spring an area of the farm would be sown with 
a special seed mix of nectar rich plants specifically to encourage 
bees. By using the site in different ways, it provided an opportunity to 
create a varied patchwork landscape that visitors could enjoy. 
 
Maintaining and growing a strong social media presence remained a 
key priority for Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse and a digital report 
for the period had been provided. 

7



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

 
 

 
Helen Bainbridge, the Chairman of the Friends of Gressenhall said 
that they were working on developing their social media presence, 
which had been difficult when indoor volunteers were not yet allowed 
back on the site. They were pleased to be able to contribute with 
securing the two new Suffolk Punch horses and hoped to work on 
more projects and have more of a presence once volunteers were 
allowed back and to be able to attend more events. 
 
The Chairman, Councillor Kybird thanked the Friends for their hard 
work during a very difficult time and was very much appreciative of 
their continued influence and support which did make a difference to 
the success of the museum. 
 
Dr Hanley reiterated this and said they were hugely grateful for the 
support of the Friends of Gressenhall, not only for their support with 
the heavy horse programme but across the site in many other ways 
and were very appreciative and pleased to continue to work with the 
Friends on this partnership approach. Preparations were being made 
so that the museum would be ready to support the return of indoor 
volunteering once it was possible to do so safely. It was anticipated 
that this would be in the Spring and plans would include volunteer 
refresher training, individual risk assessments and IT upgrades. 
 
Councillor Ward asked about the current state of the Panhard Car 
which was based at Gressenhall and if it remained road legal. Dr 
Hanley explained that the car had been actively maintained during the 
pandemic but that it had not been out and about as it normally would 
have been due to restrictions but would expect it to be engaging fully 
both on and off-site and fully operational again in 2022. 
 
Dr Hanley said it had been pleasing to see the strong level of demand 
for schools to return to visiting museums. Feedback from school visits 
remained excellent and he felt that it demonstrated that over the 
years, teachers recognised that they received a good quality 
experience, felt that it was well managed, and that the learning 
outcomes were really strong. 
 
The Kick the Dust: Norfolk Project, funded through the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund and delivered in partnership with a range of 
organisations including YMCA Norfolk, had continued to engage with 
young people aged 11 to 25 throughout the COVID-19 lockdown 
period. The project team had adapted their activities to support 
existing groups across Norfolk using digital means. 
 
Total engagement numbers for the project from October 2018 to 31 
January 2022 were 11,000 interventions, involving 3,538 individual 
young people taking part in 5,340 hours of quality activity. Of these 
interventions, 262 volunteering opportunities had been provided to 
124 individual young people. 
 
Since October 2018, the breakdown of project activity taking place in 
each NMS area was: 47% in the West (covering Kings Lynn, Thetford 
and Gressenhall), 28% in the East (covering Great Yarmouth, Cromer 

8



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

 
 

and Sheringham) and 25% in Norwich. 
 
Throughout lockdown, project staff had continued to develop and 
deliver an online training offer for all staff and volunteers who 
supported youth engagement in NMS. In total 243 staff had taken part 
in training since October 2018, with 142 of those opportunities having 
taken part during the lockdown period. 
 
Four young people had progressed onto the Kick the Dust bursary 
traineeship programme, with one Kick the Dust participant 
progressing onto the NMS Teaching Museum Traineeship 
Programme. Three other volunteers had taken on Young Ambassador 
and Young People’s Champion roles to support Institutional Change 
within NMS. 
 
The Digital Buddy programme continued to expand with six young 
people supporting five Norwich based curators and the Events and 
Visitor Programme Manager for Norwich Castle with social media. 
 
Kick the Dust was set up as a three-stage journey (Player-Shaper-
Leader), with young people developing transferable work-related skills 
and gaining experiences that they would struggle to find elsewhere, 
supporting them in securing employment. The project had been very 
tightly evaluated from the beginning with 12 other Kick the Dust 
projects across the Country. 
 
The programme-wide evaluation had been commissioned by the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund from the evaluation specialists 
Renaisi. 
 
Following their engagement: 
 

 80% of young people felt that there were jobs for young people 
like themselves to work in heritage with 13% not sure and 
needing to find out more. (Renaisi 67%).   

 90% of young people said they had learnt new and interesting 
things about heritage (Renaisi 85%).  

 85% of young people felt that heritage represented young 
people like them (Renaisi 73%).   

 81% of young people said they were more likely to become a 
volunteer because of their involvement in KTD (Renaisi 78%) 
and 81% stated they would be looking to take part in other 
local heritage events as a result of their engagement (Renaisi 
73%).   

 96% of young people stated they felt welcomed and respected 
by staff (Renaisi 95%) and 84% felt a sense of achievement 
(Renaisi 82%). 
 

Dr Hanley said that the project was not only about engaging with 
young people but that it was also about training new staff and building 
confidence in the wider staff field to ensure that engagements with 
young people across NMS were positive and it was good to see this 
coming through in the evaluation data. 
 

9



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

 
 

Planning was in place to consider the next steps for Kick the Dust and 
the NMS Youth Engagement strategy, with the potential to build in 
cross-county partnership working with another Kick the Dust project in 
Leicester. 
 
Councillor Jermy said it would be really interesting to identify any 
figures that demonstrated that young people who had not been 
engaged with museums before and as a result of the project were 
now very involved and would continue to be so. Dr Hanley said that it 
had been one of the aspirations of the project to encourage young 
people into the scheme and guide them through the project through 
the various stages and would hope in the future to provide further 
information and data to track the success of the project and that being 
able to evidence this was important.  
 
Councillor Jermy stated that Breckland Council were developing a 
Jubilee Bursary Scheme for individuals to access further education 
and felt that it might encourage some of the individuals who had been 
involved in the Kick the Dust project to access the funds to enable 
them to continue with further education should they wish to do so. 
 
Members of the Committee noted the report. 
 

8/22 UPDATE ON THE GRESSENHALL ENVIRONMENTAL HUB 
PROJECT  

 

  
 Dr Hanley and Jenny Caynes, Project Officer, NMS gave a 

presentation on the Gressenhall Environmental Hub. 
 
Dr Hanley explained that the Environmental Hub would be a chance 
for Gressenhall to really be a focal point to help communicate some of 
the environmental messages to a wider audience and support some 
of the priorities. The Hub would: 
 

 Communicate Norfolk County Council’s Environment Policy, 
which addressed Gressenhall’s response to climate change 

 Promote engagement in NCC priority projects, such as 1 
Million Trees for Norfolk 

 Make space for creative collaboration and learning 

 Provide flexible, useable spaces for NCC and partner 
colleagues for learning and sharing 

 
The Environmental Hub was funded through the Norfolk County 
Council Capital Programme and would work closely with the NCC 
Environmental Team. 
 
The Hub would be located in the South Wing at Gressenhall, 
previously home to the Historic Environment Team and the rooms 
were being reconfigured to create a large communal flexible teaching 
space, a location for ‘messy’ demonstrations and a meeting room. 
They had received guidance from Andrew Gayton, the Historical 
Buildings Officer from Breckland Council and none of the works being 
done were invasive.  
 

 

10



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

 
 

New technology would be installed in one of the rooms to allow 
flexibility for meetings, learning and presentations and the rooms 
would be available to be booked by others such as community groups 
and schools. The project included new accessible improvements to 
the building and the pathway access would be extended to provide 
level, easier access for all. 
 
The Gressenhall Community Tree Nursery would also form part of the 
Environmental project. The works at the tree nursery was being 
funded separately by DEFRA and this also funded a dedicated Trees 
Outside Woodland Project officer on Union Farm who had recruited a 
team of 12 volunteers who had been meeting weekly since Autumn 
and had been preparing beds and gathering seeds. 
 
One of the key aims of the project would be Learning & Engagement 
and a dedicated Learning Officer, Ben Earle had been appointed in 
late 2021 who had been working on engagement with HE students, 
three onsite workshops were in development and there had been an 
outreach programme pilot with two local primary schools. 
 
It was hoped that the large-scale events at Gressenhall would allow 
the Environmental Hub to really engage with visitors. Public 
engagement days planned so far: 
 

 Dereham Day – Saturday 14 May 22 

 Bee Day – 22 May 22 

 Open Farm Sunday – 12tJune 22 

 Heritage Open Day – 11 September 22 

 Apple Day – 16 October 22 

 Continued engagement with Norfolk schools 
 
Special Event Days such as Apple Day, also provided the opportunity 
to invite partner organisations such as the Wendling Beck 
Environment Project to share information on their projects. The 
Wendling Beck is a tributary of the River Wensum which runs from 
south to north covering an area of 2000 acres. This would be a large-
scale project working along with farmers and landowners on the 
regeneration of farming land to improve water and soil quality, 
including habitat creation and nature restoration and include other 
organisations such as the Norfolk Wildlife Trust, NCC, Norfolk Rivers 
Trust and the Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group. 
 
This project would also include improved walking and cycling routes 
from Dereham to Gressenhall, including the resurfacing from Mill Lane 
to Gressenhall Road. It was also planned to provide some foot 
bridges and sympathetic bird hides for public access at Dillington 
Carr. 
 
The Chairman thanked Dr Hanley and Jenny for the presentation 
which he felt would be useful to all Members of Breckland Council and 
would organise the presentation to come back to a Full Council 
meeting. 
 
Members of the Committee noted the report. 

11



Breckland Area Museums Committee 
28 February 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

 
 

9/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Monday, 20 

June 2022 were noted. Venue to be confirmed. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.50 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

12



NORFOLK MUSEUM SERVICE

Actual Visits (Incl. all School visits)

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

3 year comparison by Month

 TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

3 year comparison - Cumulative

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

t\Maninfo\Monthly Data Reports\

Museums\Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22\3 yr Cumlative

M Peachey/Intelligence and Analytics

16/03/2211

Minute Item 7/21

13



NORFOLK MUSEUM SERVICE

Visitors by Museum and County Total

APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

YEAR TO 

DATE TOTAL

2019-20 953 17,435 14,755 18,760 24,373 15,953 15,978 12,187 9,255 11,141 14,644 5,032 155,434 160,466

2020-21 245 238 2,454 357 756 4,050 4,050

2021-22 2,732 5,309 8,053 12,796 7,652 8,964 6,226 4,068 4,962 6,790 67,552 67,552

2019-20 235 194 249 228 159 331 294 227 192 275 320 126 2,704 2,830

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 7 3 23 35 35

2019-20 1,848 1,682 1,390 1,908 4,604 2,388 1,577 1,673 1,114 1,204 2,100 538 21,488 22,026

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 115 504 595 614 842 749 767 422 647 1,308 6,563 6,563

2019-20 619 631 687 1,187 2,880 1,607 817 772 1,153 64 338 441 10,755 11,196

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 0 0 24 39 450 508 521 460 0 302 2,304 2,304

2019-20 412 731 11 274 1058 912 394 163 20 106 114 80 4,195 4,275

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 0 0 0 3 0 751 5 0 0 3 762 762

2019-20 1,326 1,771 1,186 1,380 1,687 1,768 1,172 0 37 33 53 40 10,413 10,453

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 249 546 863 1,181 1,205 2,160 30 38 102 34 6,408 6,408

2019-20 2,828 3,145 3,349 3,532 3,144 4,221 3,394 3,228 1,866 2,427 3,153 1,363 34,287 35,650

2020-21 218 1,392 918 1,162 51 146 1,407 5,294 5,294

2021-22 451 1,302 1,449 2,588 2,307 4,600 1,399 782 1,195 1,465 17,538 17,538

2019-20 1,744 1,847 1,856 2,323 2,479 2,120 1,254 130 41 234 160 423 14,188 14,611

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 231 574 994 1,438 1,232 984 80 16 57 114 5,720 5,720

2019-20 1,050 1,063 971 1,580 1,504 1,722 1,778 1,709 995 1,649 2,143 757 16,164 16,921

2020-21 629 18 247 894 894

2021-22 308 736 906 1,614 1,446 1,316 1,381 889 899 1,289 10,784 10,784

2019-20 681 586 768 1,138 762 829 774 1,037 463 676 872 336 8,586 8,922

2020-21 0 0

2021-22 280 134 313 335 1,085 442 746 460 487 602 4,884 4,884

2019-20 6,411 6,284 8,798 5,406 9,626 6,160 5,191 1,694 1,341 165 1,641 1,020 52,717 53,737

2020-21 735 2,188 1,161 1,901 96 125 6,206 6,206

2021-22 1,623 2,605 3,426 3,510 6,935 5,077 4,636 1,400 549 191 710 30,662 30,662

2019-20 570 1139 618 394 1552 2188 399 864 458 633 421 560 9,236 9,796

2020-21 173 3 68 2 116 362 362

2021-22 152 147 150 152 133 275 708 317 255 181 2,470 2,470

2019-20 18,677 36,508 34,638 38,110 53,828 40,199 33,022 23,684 16,935 18,607 25,959 10,716 340,167 350,883

2020-21 953 3,998 2,320 6,214 524 1,390 15,399 15,399

2021-22 1,623 7,123 12,678 16,857 27,697 21,429 25,385 13,263 8,008 8,798 12,821 155,682 155,682

TARGET 2,629 2,610 2,406 953 3,998 2,320 6,214 524 1,390 1,407 2,020 1,466 26,471 27,937

N

O

R

W

I

C

H

Norwich Castle Study Centre    

(Shirehall)

E

A

S

T

W

E

S

T

Strangers Hall

Castle Museum

Museum of Norwich

Lynn Museum

Tolhouse Museum

Elizabethan House Museum

Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse

Norfolk Exhibition Programmes 

incl. King's Lynn Town Hall SLA

Time and Tide

Ancient House Museum

Cromer Museum

t\Maninfo\Monthly Data Reports\Museums\Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22\VISITOR COMP 
M Peachey/Intelligence and Analytics

1214



NORFOLK MUSEUMS SERVICE

CUMULATIVE VISITORS by INDIVIDUAL MUSEUMS

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

CASTLE MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

SHIREHALL STUDY CENTRE

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

MUSEUM OF NORWICH

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

STRANGERS HALL MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

t\Maninfo\MonthlyDataReports\

Museums\Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22\CHARTS CUMULATIVE

M Peachey/Intelligence and Analytics

16/03/22

1315



NORFOLK MUSEUMS SERVICE

CUMULATIVE VISITORS by INDIVIDUAL MUSEUMS

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

TOLHOUSE MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

ELIZABETHAN HOUSE MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

TIME AND TIDE MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

12,500

15,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

CROMER MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

t\Maninfo\MonthlyDataReports\

Museums\Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22\CHARTS CUMULATIVE

M Peachey/Intelligence and Analytics

16/03/22

1416



NORFOLK MUSEUMS SERVICE

CUMULATIVE VISITORS by INDIVIDUAL MUSEUMS

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

LYNN MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

GRESSENHALL MUSEUM

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

A
P

R

M
A

Y

J
U

N

J
U

L

A
U

G

S
E

P

O
C

T

N
O

V

D
E

C

J
A

N

F
E

B

M
A

R

Norfolk Exhibition Programmes incl. King's Lynn Town Hall SLA

TARGET

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

t\Maninfo\MonthlyDataReports\

Museums\Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22\CHARTS CUMULATIVE

M Peachey/Intelligence and Analytics

16/03/22

1517



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
20 June 2022  Item No. 

 
ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT 

 
Report by the Curator, Ancient House Museum 

 
      

 
 
 
 
 
1. COVID-19 Service update 
 
1.1 Despite the ending of legal restrictions, a number of the COVID-secure 
systems and procedures implemented across Norfolk Museums Service 
(NMS) sites during the pandemic remain in place, with a focus on keeping 
staff and visitors safe through minimising any risk of transmission. Sites 
continue to provide hand sanitiser stations and directional signage. The 
wearing of face coverings is now optional and visitors are requested to follow 
“respectful distancing”. The pre-booking of tickets is no longer a requirement, 
but remains an option. Site capacity limits have largely reverted to pre-
pandemic levels.  
 
1.2 In terms of the COVID-19 procedures and systems that remain in place 
across NMS sites, the priorities remain:  

• Ventilation – maintaining existing ventilation arrangements to 
maximise fresh air flow including supplementary air purifiers and CO2 
monitors at relevant sites  
• Cleaning regimes – maintaining enhanced cleaning arrangements 
including toilets and regular touch points  
• Hand sanitisation – maintaining existing sanitiser stations and 
encouraging regular hand sanitisation/hand washing. Additional hand 
sanitiser stations have been introduced where required e.g. near 
interactives.  

 
1.3 To facilitate increased levels of use of museum spaces by visitors, staff 
and volunteers, CO2 monitors provided through Norfolk County Council have 
been introduced into a number of rooms and spaces across NMS where there 
is more limited natural/mechanical ventilation. These CO2 detectors can be 

This report provides information on activities at 
Ancient House, Museum of Thetford Life from 
March to May 2022 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Oliver Bone on 01842 752599 and we will do 
our best to help 

18

Agenda Item 8



monitored locally by staff using these spaces and they also link into the 
LoRaWAN network, facilitating the use of monitoring dashboards to track live 
data and trends. The use of CO2 monitors has enabled a number of spaces to 
be brought back into use by staff and volunteers and increased capacity for 
schools and other visitors  
 
1.4 Throughout the period of the pandemic, NMS staff developed a broad 
range of digital resources to support audiences, including resources for 
children and families. Digital engagement included a significant expansion of 
social media activity. A number of these digital resources are now being 
repurposed to support a hybrid offer e.g. enhanced schools resources.  
 
1.5 In line with NCC practice at office hubs, non-frontline NMS staff have been 
able to return to the workplace. NMS has also implemented NCC Smarter 
Working principles across teams, which identify patterns of home and office-
based working on a team and individual staff member level.  
 
1.6 Volunteering has recommenced across NMS sites. Outdoor volunteering 
commenced earlier in the pandemic. Since Easter 2022 a phased resumption 
of indoor volunteering has been facilitated 

 
 

2 Building Works at former King’s Head pub, next door to the Ancient 
House 

 
Building works at the former King’s Head pub, a listed building next door to 
the Ancient House, caused disruption to the museum last winter.  The King’s 
Head still remains covered in scaffolding following the involvement of 
Breckland Council and the Health and Safety Executive. 
 
There is currently consultation with neighbours, including Ancient House, for 
planning permission and listed building consent for the development of the 
former King’s Head for housing. 

 
 

3 Exhibitions and associated events 
 
3.1 Princess Catherine Duleep Singh  
The Museum has marked the 150th birth anniversary of Princess Catherine 
Duleep Singh, second daughter of the Maharajah Duleep Singh with an 
exhibition in the Hall of the Ancient House. The display has been undertaken 
in partnership with Peter Bance, historian and collector with the Anglo-Punjab 
Heritage Foundation. The exhibition features a newly commissioned portrait of 
Princess Catherine by leading contemporary artist Amandeep Singh, also 
known as Inkquisitive. Also on display are artefacts associated with Princess 
Catherine and pull up banners telling her story including her work 
championing rights for women and helping refugees escape from Nazi  
Germany. The exhibition will now continue until 10 July 2022.  
 

19



The TV programme Antiques Road Trip filmed an interview with Peter Bance 
at the Museum in March to talk about Princess Catherine. 
 
3.2 Thetford Treasure (22 July 2021 – 10 July 2022) 
The current exhibition at Ancient House in the Changing Displays room is The 
Thetford Treasure.  The display features 11 items from the late Roman hoard 
of inscribed and decorated silver spoons and gold jewellery including the well-
known gold belt buckle decorated by the figure of a dancing satyr, a Roman 
mythical creature. The original objects were returned safely to the British 
Museum in early May. Their place has been taken by the museum’s replicas 
of the originals, carefully labelled. The replicas were made for permanent 
display in Thetford as a result of the Thetford Treasure Replica Appeal, led by 
then mayor of Thetford Mike Edmond. The original artefacts from the 
Hockwold Hoard of glass, pewter and copper alloy finds from the Roman 
temple site will continue on display until July. The Norfolk Museums Service is 
grateful to the Trustees of the British Museum for the loan of the Thetford 
Treasure. 
 

 
Roman glass from the hoard from Hockwold on display at Ancient House until early July 
 
3.3 Brecks River and Fen Edge landscape project.   
The Ancient House is part of the National Lottery Heritage Fund-funded 
Brecks River and Fen Edge (BFER) landscape project. The Scheme won a 
£2m National Lottery Heritage Fund grant as part of the proposal for a £3.5m 
landscape conservation scheme.  The project is engaging local communities, 
schools and like-minded organisations to understand, reveal, celebrate and 
protect the lost heritage of the Brecks’ Fen Edge & Rivers over the next 5 
years.  The Ancient House Museum will receive funding as a partner 
organisation to produce exhibitions and activities in 2022 and 2023 on the 
themes of Vikings and Riverside Heritage.   
 

20



The Vikings exhibition will be part of the ‘River Raiders’ strand.  Museum staff 
are working with the team at BFER and Dr Richard Hoggett to curate the 
exhibition.  The project is involving members of the Teenage History Club in 
choosing artefacts and themes for display as ‘community curators’.  The 
exhibition will include material from the 8th century high status site at Staunch 
Meadow, Brandon, the Viking Burial finds from Santon, on loan from the 
British Museum as well as a number of finds from Thetford and area as shown 
at Norwich Castle at their recent Vikings exhibition. 
 

 
Archaeological reconstruction picture by Alan Sorrell of Thetford 1000 years ago.  The original 
artwork will be on display as part of the forthcoming Vikings exhibition at Ancient House 
 
 
3.4 Duleep Singh Gallery National Lottery Heritage Fund Application  
The team at the Ancient House is proposing to apply to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund to create new displays at the museum to make more of the 
unusual connections between the Museum and the Maharajah Duleep Singh 
and his family.  We plan to submit a project enquiry form to the NLHF as a first 
step.  The following text comes from the draft enquiry form: 
 
“We plan to work with young people and others to update and improve 
interpretation at Ancient House, Museum of Thetford Life. We want to tell the 
stories of Maharajah Duleep Singh and family for modern audiences. They 
were the last royal family of Punjab and were associated with Norfolk for 
almost a century. Prince Frederick Duleep Singh was the museum's 
benefactor. He generously bought and gave Ancient House to be a public 
museum, a unique example of a UK museum foundation. The Museum's 
100th anniversary falls in December 2024, an excellent moment to celebrate 

21



the Duleep Singhs' contributions. Over the last 5 years we have worked 
closely with partners including Essex Cultural Diversity Project on cultural 
festivals, heritage trails, films and temporary exhibitions. During this period we 
have seen growing audiences for discovering the unique and surprising links 
between Museum, Thetford area and north-west India.” 
 

 
Unveiling of statue of Maharajah Duleep Singh  
in Thetford in 1999 by Prince Charles 
 
 The project will also let us share new interests and research in the family 
including LGBTQ+ history, decolonisation, women's rights and global 
connections. We also want to update interpretation of Thetford's other stories 
to include research findings about early human occupation, Viking activity, 
Tudor history, 19th and 20th century, and representation of more recent 
migrations. 
 
We plan to continue sharing plans with audiences and involve people in 
developing content, including long-established partners in the British Punjabi 
community, the museum's Teenage History Club and Essex Cultural Diversity 
Project. Work with young people to help employability and sustain the work of 
the NMS Kick the Dust project. We are planning to design and install a new 
exhibit in each room at the Ancient House to give a walk -through of Duleep 
Singh history from Punjab to East Anglia. For example, one of the exhibits will 

22



be a touchscreen interactive created with the Sikh Museum Initiative to 
explore key heritage items such as the Koh-i-Noor diamond, once owned by 
the boy-king. Another important exhibit will be the long-term loan and display 
of the portrait of Maharajah Duleep Singh by George Beechey. We also intend 
to create new digital content using a digital delivery system to give a 
personalised tour of the museum displays, with new audio, imagery and video. 
We will write new, updated content for all the museum's graphic panels 
incorporating new research, imagery and interests. Another important aspect 
will be the delivery of a learning programme for schools, groups, adults and 
family audiences focussing on 2024, the 100th anniversary of the museum. In 
addition we plan to evaluate the process and the desired outcomes. 
 
If it finds approval, we would like to submit the project enquiry form to the 
NLHF in July 2022. 
 
 
4 Learning with Adults, Children and Young People 
 
4.1 workshops for schools. 
Learning Officer, Melissa Hawker has worked closely with local teachers to 
develop new workshops and history units. This has included developing a new 
History Unit for Year 3s at Bishop’s Academy focusing on India, Empire and 
Maharajah Duleep Singh, a programme of digital and on-site workshops 
exploring local geography for Year 1s at Drake School, and work in 
partnership with Thetford Town Council’s Guildhall project to support learning 
about Dr Minns, first Black mayor in Britain, and Princess Sophia Duleep 
Singh. 
 

 
 
One teacher from Raleigh Academy commented: 
“I just wanted to email to say a big thank you for organising such a wonderful 
trip for our children today. The children had a wonderful time, and were so 
engaged by all the activities - they were non-stop talking about it for the whole 
walk home. This was our first official school trip, and it will certainly be 

23



memorable for them all. Please pass on our thanks to your colleagues who 
made the day so special for us. We look forward to working with you again in 
the future!“ 
 

 
 
Learning Officer, Melissa Hawker is working with the History Lead at Norwich 
Road Academy to support them to interpret their school archive of images and 
log books. This included an image of the Norwich Road Choir Boys Choir 
which Melissa was able to date using the Newspaper Archive.  
This is the report from Bury Free Press on Saturday 1 January 1938: 
‘SCHOOL BROADCAST.—We understand from Mr. J. H. Lee, the 
headmaster of the Thetford Boys’ Council School, that the School Choir will 
be broadcasting from London Region il during the children’s hour at 5 p.m. on 
Tuesday, January 18th, when they will sing two groups of songs entitled, “The 
Coasts of High Barbary,” “As I walked thro’ the meadow/’ “‘The Traction 
Engine,” “Devon, O Devon,” “Coming Spring” and “The Milk Cart Pony.” This 
is a great distinction for Mr. Lee and his school choir, but yet another honour 
has been conferred on the Thetford Boys’ School, for one of the scholars, a 
member the choir, Master Robert Regent, is also to broadcast two solos, “A 
Brown Bird Singing” and “Little Boy Blue.” We believe that Robert Regent will 
probably the first schoolboy in East Anglia to broadcast solos. Regent is one 
of Mr. Lee’s solo boys at St. Cuthbert’s Church and on Sunday next, January 
9th, he will be singing Mendelssohn’s “O for the wings of a Dove 
 
 
5 Events and activities 
5.1 Social media  
The Ancient House Museum accounts continue to grow. 
 
The Museum’s Twitter page may be seen here: 
https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus 
The Museum’s Facebook page may be seen here 
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/ 

24

https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/


 
 
5.2 Half term event 
 

 
Museum freelance educators at Ancient House for the May Half  
Term Commonwealth War Graves commission partnership event 
 
Over May half term Ancient House worked with the Commonwealth War 
Graves Commission to offer a family friendly event focused on the war 
experiences of those men commemorated with Commonwealth War Graves 
at Thetford Cemetery. The event was well attended by over 50 visitors. 
 
5.3  Afternoon Talks Return as Hybrid Events 
 

 
Dan Morgan, speaker at the museum’s afternoon talk in May.  Dan spoke about toy theatres.  

25



 
After a pause due to Covid-19, Ancient House’s afternoon talks programme 
returned in April, to a socially distanced audience in the Tudor Hall and an 
online audience via Zoom. During the pandemic, Ancient House has built up 
an online audience for events including some care homes so all the talks will 
be presented in the museum and simultaneously live streamed via Zoom 
webinar. The talks programme is supported by Friends of Ancient House. This 
model of delivery enables us to reach a wider geographic audience and also 
cater for those who are unable to visit the museum in person due to health 
concerns. 
The programme is: 
Tuesday 14 June - Women and Community in Fifteenth-century Norfolk - 
Elaine Rushin 
Tuesday 12 July - Life in the Roman Army – Nigel Amies 
Tuesday 13 September - Picturing the Past: Representation of the past in art - 
Dan Morgan 
Tuesday 11 October - Icenia: Land of the Horse? – Keith Robinson 
Tuesday 8 November - Medieval Pilgrim Souvenirs – Oliver Bone 
Tuesday 13 December - Christmas Through the Ages – Melissa Hawker 
 
5.4 Teenage History Club and History Club 
 

 
Members of the Ancient House’s after-school History Club at the museum 
 
Ancient House have supported local children to achieve The Platinum Jubilee 
Norfolk Challenge Awards. These awards have been developed in tribute to 
the late Duke of Edinburgh, whose own Award scheme has been so influential 
on the lives of generations of young people and recognise children and young 
people’s contribution to the Norfolk community as part of the Platinum Jubilee 
celebrations and beyond. The Ancient House History Club completed the 
award over the last half term and their progress was featured in the Norfolk 
Platinum Jubilee newsletter (https://mailchi.mp/platinumjubileenorfolk/schools-
scouts-and-brownies). Ancient House also supported all pupils at Drake 
Academy to complete the Challenge Award. Ancient House will continue to 
offer the award to school groups, community groups and the general public for 
the rest of 2022. The Teenage History Club is assisting with the curation of 
the Vikings exhibition opening in July.  They have a particular focus on the 
Viking burial from Santon, near Thetford. 

26

https://mailchi.mp/platinumjubileenorfolk/schools-scouts-and-brownies
https://mailchi.mp/platinumjubileenorfolk/schools-scouts-and-brownies


6 Other Museum Developments 
6.1 Volunteers 
Volunteering at the museum is planned to return soon.  An initial project for 
the collections volunteers will be the scanning and documentation of the 
recently acquired postcard collection.  This will be working at first with 
Assistant Curator (Lynn Museum), Dayna Woolbright. 
 
6.2 Textile groups 
Members of the Museum’s Knit and Knatter groups are currently supporting 
the museum’s exhibition programme. 
 
6.3  Friends of the Museum 
The Friends of the Museum continue to support the Museum through 
fundraising and promoting the Museum in the town.  
 
6.4  Teaching Museum Trainee Scheme 
The Ancient House has continued to host a paid traineeship, provided through 
the NMS Teaching Museum programme.  The traineeship is funded through 
the NMS Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation 2018-2023 
Business Plan. The Ancient House is hosting a traineeship again and our new 
trainee is Katie Crowson, who has settled in well.  Katie has been involved in 
plans for the forthcoming Vikings exhibition and research about Maharajah 
Duleep Singh and family. 
 
6.5 Media coverage 
The Ancient House continues to feature on Radio Norfolk and with a regular 
slot in the monthly About Thetford magazine. 
 
6.6 Research project about Maharajah Duleep Singh 
The Ancient House team is working in partnership with Dr Priya Atwal from 
Oxford University as part of the Torch Knowledge Exchange programme from 
the history faculty. Priya will be working with us to research the religious 
identity of Duleep Singh.  Funding is available for a summer event on 2 July 2 
to share the results of the research. 
 
 
7 Visitor Numbers   
 
7.1 Up to date visitor figures will be circulated at the meeting. 

 
 

8 Recommendations: 
 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report 
 
Originator of report: 
Oliver Bone Curator Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life Tel: 01842 752599  
e-mail: oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk  

27

mailto:oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
20 June 2022  Item No. 

 
GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT 

 
Report by the Operations Manager – West 

 
    

1. COVID-19 Service update 
 
1.1 Despite the ending of legal restrictions, a number of the COVID-secure 

systems and procedures implemented across Norfolk Museums 
Service (NMS) sites during the pandemic remain in place, with a focus 
on keeping staff and visitors safe through minimising any risk of 
transmission. Sites continue to provide hand sanitiser stations and 
directional signage. The wearing of face coverings is now optional and 
visitors are requested to follow “respectful distancing”. The pre-booking 
of tickets is no longer a requirement but remains an option. Site 
capacity limits have largely reverted to pre-pandemic levels.  
 

1.2 In terms of the COVID-19 procedures and systems that remain in place 
across NMS sites, the priorities remain: 
• Ventilation – maintaining existing ventilation arrangements to 
maximise fresh air flow including supplementary air purifiers and CO2 
monitors at relevant sites  
• Cleaning regimes – maintaining enhanced cleaning arrangements 
including toilets and regular touch points  
• Hand sanitisation – maintaining existing sanitiser stations and 
encouraging regular hand sanitisation/hand washing. Additional hand 
sanitiser stations have been introduced where required e.g. near 
interactives.  
 

1.3 To facilitate increased levels of use of museum spaces by visitors, staff 
and volunteers, CO2 monitors provided through Norfolk County Council 
have been introduced into a number of rooms and spaces across NMS 
where there is more limited natural/mechanical ventilation. At 
Gressenhall these spaces are the Library, Learning Centre, First 

This report provides information on activities at Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse from February to May 2022. 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Andrew Smith on 01362 869254 and we will 
do our best to help 

28

Agenda Item 9



Farmers Gallery, Women’s Land Army Gallery, Training Room, Board 
Room, Environment Hub - Main meeting room, Café and the Chapel. 
These CO2 detectors can be monitored locally by staff using these 
spaces and they also link into the LoRaWAN network, facilitating the 
use of monitoring dashboards to track live data and trends. The use of 
CO2 monitors in spaces such as these has enabled a number of 
spaces to be brought back into use by staff and volunteers and 
increased capacity for schools and other visitors. 

 
1.4 Throughout the period of the pandemic, NMS staff developed a broad 

range of digital resources to support audiences, including resources for 
children and families. Digital engagement included a significant 
expansion of social media activity. A number of these digital resources 
are now being repurposed to support a hybrid offer e.g. enhanced 
schools resources.  
 

1.5 In line with NCC practice at office hubs, non-frontline NMS staff have 
been able to return to the workplace. NMS has also implemented NCC 
Smarter Working principles across teams, which identify patterns of 
home and office-based working on a team and individual staff member 
level.  
 

1.6 Volunteering has recommenced across NMS sites. Outdoor 
volunteering commenced earlier in the pandemic. Since Easter 2022 a 
phased resumption of indoor volunteering has also been facilitated. 
 
 

2. Events and Activities  
 
2.1 Following a recruitment campaign, a new Events Officer has been 

appointed to the Gressenhall role. Fiona Ashley starts on 13 June 
2022. 
 

2.2 The Gressenhall events programme for the 2022 season has been 
developed and scheduled. It offers a broad range of events based 
around four operational models. All events held have followed the 
COVID-19 guidance and regulations in place at the time and we are 
looking forward to a busy summer of events this year.  
 

2.3 The four operational models include:  
• Special Event days – major events which require full event 

staffing and set up, including the use of large parking fields. A 
premium ticket price applies for these event days to reflect the 
high level of activities taking place. Free admission continues to 
be provided to Norfolk Museums Pass holders.  

 
• Days with a Difference – smaller themed events. These require 

smaller staffing complement and utilise core parking.  They are 
aimed at attracting audiences of 500-800 visitors. Again, they 
are offered free to Norfolk Museums Pass holders. Bank Holiday 

29



Monday on 2 May featured Yoga for Kids - a yoga session for 
families, getting messy with Art Attack, and trying the I-Spy trail. 
Sundays in May featured Art Attack sessions including Make a 
bookmark on 1 May, Discover cottage gardens on 8 May, Try 
your hand a macrame on 15 May and Make a peg doll on 22 
May.  
 

• Norfolk School Holiday activities – extra themed activities 
delivered each day of the Norfolk School holidays, with minimal 
increase in staffing.  Free to Norfolk Museums Pass holders. 
During the Easter holiday period in April the theme was Senses 
in Nature – based on getting outside and discovering the 
wonders of the natural world. This included trails and activities, 
making a musical shaker and exploring the musical woods and 
the adventure playground. May half-term (28 May – 5 June) 
activities were Jubilee themed. Create Like a Royal celebrated 
the Queen's Platinum Jubilee and activities included making a 
medal, creating your own flag and crown, riding a hobby horse, 
completing the royal stamper trail and making a paper flower to 
decorate the chapel. 
 

• Ticketed Events – pre-booked and pre-paid events. These 
events, held outside of standard opening hours or out of the 
main season, offer a reduced charge to Norfolk Museums Pass 
holders.  

 
• Gressenhall organises several leisure learning short courses 

throughout the year. There have been none for this reporting 
period, however, for the month of June we have several Talks 
with an Expert scheduled, each focusing on a different aspect of 
Norfolk from the history of beer to collections care. 

 
2.4 On Sunday 12 June the Open Farm Sunday event takes place. This 

will be a free admission day for all visitors and is part of the national 
event run by LEAF (Linking Environment and Farming) annually. The 
day gives visitors the opportunity to learn more about farming and the 
countryside. We are working in partnership with the Norfolk 
Smallholders Training Group to showcase the best of farming practice 
in Norfolk. There will be animal demonstrations, local produce for sale 
and on the Gressenhall Farm visitors will be able to see our Suffolk 
Punch Horses at work, learn more about traditional farming methods, 
visit the new community tree nursery and hear about the work of the 
Environment Hub. 
 

2.5 During this reporting period we continue to focus on digital delivery as 
an alternative means of engaging with both existing and new 
audiences. This included social media posts following a dedicated 
programme of themes. Digital resources created by the Events, 
Learning and Curatorial teams are continuing to be uploaded on a 
regular basis to social media platforms and the Gressenhall website.    

30



     
2.6 The costs of delivering and marketing the Gressenhall event 

programme continues to be subsidised with funding from Arts Council 
England (ACE) as part of the 2018-23 Norfolk Museums Service ACE 
business plan as a National Portfolio Organisation.   

 
2.7 The Gressenhall events programme is promoted in print, as well as an 

increased programme of digital marketing including Facebook and 
Google adverts and the museum’s own social media presence. The 
Gressenhall events programme is communicated via social media, Art 
Tickets and the Gressenhall web pages.  
 

3. Other Museum Developments 
 
3.1 The new temporary exhibition, Georgie 

Meadows: Stitched Drawings, opened 
officially on 14 May 2022 and will run until 
the end of the 2022 season. This Wellcome 
Collection touring exhibition brings together 
24 pieces of textile art which explore the 
personal experience of ageing and 
dementia. Meadows is an artist and 
occupational therapist who crafts uniquely 
affecting and compassionate portraits, 
translating line drawing of people she 
knows or has cared for into stitched works. 
The artist will be giving an online talk and 
introduction to the work on display on 17 
June.  
 

3.2 Gressenhall events trainee, Gaby Copeman, organised the community 
response to the exhibition, Stitched Together.  Participants created 
stitched portraits of people who care for them which were brought 
together to create a community blanket. This, and an accompanying 
zine, is on display in the adjacent gallery. Next to the blanket, visitors 
can leave their own response by drawings symbols or portraits to 
represent caring people in their lives. A pop-up display titled Nothing 
about us without us is also on show, linked to the themes in Meadows’ 
work. The display is about the History of Disability told through 13 
objects in Norfolk Museums’ collections. It was created by young and 
disabled people living in Norfolk through the Kick the Dust project and 
has toured libraries and other venues. Other opportunities for young 
people to engage with the exhibition will take place throughout the 
summer, through Kick the Dust and summer holiday family activities. 
Alongside the exhibition, a trail of additional interpretation labels 
highlights stories behind selected textile objects on display throughout 
the museum. 

   
3.3 Online versions of previous temporary exhibitions have been created 

and these have been uploaded to the Google Arts and Culture 

31



platform. These simple PDF files allow online visitors to explore the 
objects and images at their own pace and to review areas of interest. 
The online tours available include: 
Full Steam Ahead 
Once Upon a Time 
LGBTQ+ Stories 
Behind the Scenes Collections Store Tour 
 

3.4 The refurbishment and access improvement works on the ground floor 
of the Environment Hub wing are now completed and these spaces will 
begin to be utilised to highlight the environmental works being 
showcased at Gressenhall, including the new community tree nursery. 
There will also be a range of environment-focussed school sessions 
and other engagement activities, delivered by the Environment Hub’s 
Learning and Engagement Officer, Ben Earle. 
 

3.5 The newly restored Farmer’s Foundry portable steam engine is now 
operational, and volunteers will be demonstrating the engine at Open 
Farm Sunday on 12 June and on the Heritage Open Day on 11 
September. Additional checks are taking place to pipework indoors due 
to the increased power of the new engine, following which the Farmer’s 
Foundry will also be used to power and demonstrate stationary engines 
in the Engineering Gallery. A new interpretation panel has been 
installed, with input from Kick the Dust project trainees. Additional 
volunteering opportunities linked to the restoration project have also 
taken place. Young people are creating pop-up interpretation looking at 
the social and environmental impacts of steam. Craft volunteers are 
creating an artistic response inspired by engineering and agricultural 
union banners. These items will be displayed during the Heritage Open 
Day event. 
 

3.6 Essential volunteering has continued, including gardening, Farmer’s 
Foundry engine restoration, Panhard car maintenance and Landscape 
Conservation. Collections volunteers also undertook a deep clean of 
the village row shop area and collections displayed outdoors 
throughout spring.  
 

3.7 The two new Suffolk Punch colts Jack (2 years old) and Kingsman (1 
year old), purchased with donations from the Friends of Gressenhall, 
have settled in well at the farm. They are getting used to visitors and 
the sights and sounds of the working environment and are becoming 
used to being handled and groomed. During the coming months they 
will be introduced to the harness and to being led around the site in 
readiness to start the next phase of their training. The older horses are 
all enjoying the spring and early summer and continue to carry out work 
and demonstrations on the farm. 
 

3.8 The community tree nursery which forms part of the Gressenhall 
Environment Hub has evolved from a small grass paddock to a defined 
area with the infrastructure being put into place. Raised beds have 

32



seedlings growing on from seed gathered in the autumn and a team of 
new volunteers lead by project officer Emma Cross are making an 
important contribution to the project. The long-term aim is to supply 
young trees to be planted at various sites around the county and ties in 
to the NCC ambition to plant a million trees for Norfolk as well as the 
DEFRA Trees Outside Woodlands scheme. 
 

3.9 NCC are working in partnership with our neighbouring landowners in 
the creation of the Wendling Beck exemplar project which links to the 
Gressenhall Environment Hub work. This is an exciting project with 
many different themes from manging a wetland, creating an arboretum, 
regenerative farming practices as well as improving public access to 
the whole area. We have been actively working with colleagues from 
the NCC Environment Department and the landowner partners looking 
at the farm site to identify opportunities to improve and develop the 
physical spaces for the future in an environmentally sustainable way. 
The project work is progressing with ecological and topographical 
surveys of the site undertaken recently and maintenance works to 
some of the farm buildings being planned. 
 

3.10 During this season the farm will be leading on some larger events 
starting with Open Farm Sunday on 12 June. In September, during the 
Heritage Open Day event on Sunday 11 September, a working horse 
day will take place on the farm in conjunction with the Suffolk Horse 
Society. Various seasonal tasks will be carried out by horses brought to 
site by the society and this will be complimented by the work of our own 
horses. 
 

3.11 Maintaining and growing a strong social media presence remains as a 
key priority for Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse and a digital report 
for the period will be circulated at the meeting.   
To connect with Gressenhall, please visit: 
https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW  
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW  
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/ 
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en    
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/  
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse  
 

3.12 The private Facebook group for Gressenhall staff and volunteers 
remains a valuable communication tool. It provides a link to the 
museum for staff and volunteers who are not currently able to attend or 
work on site and regular updates are posted to keep them updated. 
 

3.13 Gressenhall continues to investigate a range of commercial activities 
as a means of generating income in the future, including room and 
venue hire.  

 
 
 

33

https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse


4. Friends and Volunteers 
 

4.1 The Friends of Gressenhall remain very supportive and are now 
exploring new ways to support Gressenhall. This includes funding the 
purchase of the two new Suffolk Punch horses. The Friends continue to 
operate the Gressenhall second-hand bookshop and this space has 
been open to visitors again since April 2022.  
 

4.2 The gradual re-introduction of indoor and non-essential volunteering 
began from 25 April 2022. Rachel Kidd, Gressenhall Curator, is in the 
process of reinstating wider teams and updating room capacities, safe 
systems of work and individual risk assessments as needed. Farm 
volunteers and Workhouse Trails volunteers have recommenced 
activities. Collections volunteers will start indoor work from 9 June 
2022. Other teams will start across the following weeks and procedures 
for teams who had previously been doing essential work will be 
updated. Remote research and transcribing opportunities will continue, 
with some sessions taking place on site as required.  
 
 

5. Learning & Outreach 
 
5.1 School visits 

  
We have had visits from just over 1,900 school children and students 
during April and May. With school visits well booked for June and July, 
there are promising signs of recovery to something approaching pre-
Covid numbers. Evaluation has remained excellent. One example from 
a KS1 Dereham school:  
‘Every part of the day was managed and organised effectively and 
enabled a smooth transition to all activities. The entire visit was 
worthwhile and such a valuable experience. Every staff member helped 
the visit to run effectively. Thank you for such a wonderfully 
entertaining visit. We had a superb time and it could not have been 
better organised. We would recommend this trip to all.’ 
 
Recent school visits have included a local school who used the 
Platinum Jubilee as an opportunity to bring the whole school to look at 
change during Elizabeth II’s reign. They compared our 1930’s Cherry 
Tree Cottage and 1950’s room with their own homes. 
 

5.2 Environment Hub 
 
As part of the Environment Hub’s school offer we have re-worked our 
Homes or Habitats KS3 Geography event (in which students have to 
decide if a fictitious application to build houses on the Gressenhall farm 
site should go ahead). The new version will include a session which 
uses the new community tree nursery to focus upon the broader 
impacts of climate change. We continue to work with local schools; 
Beetley St. Mary, Swanton Morley and Northgate High School – 

34



providing information and developing skills to enable them to create 
their own in-school environmental projects. In a significant new 
development, we are working in partnership with the SAW Trust and 
John Innes Centre on their Forest Gardens for Schools projects. The 
project will be launched at Gressenhall. A flyer for this project will 
accompany the committee report pack.   
 
The Environment Hub will also host the Sixth Form Biodiversity 
Conference at the start of Autumn term 2022-23, providing hands on 
activities that will help students with their studies and explore careers 
options within environmental science. This will be an excellent 
opportunity to work with our local partners, the Wendling Beck 
Environmental Project and Norfolk Wildlife Trust. 
 

5.3 Partnership working 
 
Events in partnership with the Virtual School Sensory Support, Dad’s 
Matters, Monument and NCC Family learning, referenced in the 
previous report, were all successful and we are developing plans for 
future engagements. These include working with Family Learning on a 
regular Early Years offer, to be trialled in the Autumn term. 
 
The Family Fun Day, held in partnership with NCC’s Fostering and 
Adoption Service, will run again on 16 July 2022 after a two-year gap. 
The event is an opportunity for carers to meet each other and council 
staff in a safe and neutral environment, and for us to say thank you for 
the work that they do. This year’s theme will be Once Upon A Time, 
with Cinderella, the Wicked Witch and Peter Pan amongst other 
characters running a series of accessible activities. Any councillors 
wishing to attend the day will be most welcome, please contact 
jan.pitman@norfolk.gov.uk to be added to the invite list.  
 

5.4 Gressenhall continues to be registered with NCC as a Care Farm. 
Work-based placements to adults with learning difficulties have been 
temporarily suspended during the pandemic. Placements will be 
reviewed and re-introduced gradually. 
 

5.5 Kick the Dust Norfolk – project update 
The Kick the Dust: Norfolk project, funded through the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (NLHF) delivered in partnership with a range of 
organisations including YMCA Norfolk, continued to engage with young 
people aged 11-25 throughout the period of the pandemic. The project 
team adapted their activities to support existing groups across Norfolk, 
in particular YMCA groups, using digital means. 
 
The following report highlights the work of the Kick the Dust team in 
terms of how it has adapted its approach to accommodate activity since 
the start of lockdown in March 2020 enabling us to continue to support 
all groups across Norfolk, including YMCA, through digital and 
increasingly through face-to-face engagement. The team is now 

35

mailto:jan.pitman@norfolk.gov.uk


delivering mostly face-to-face sessions which continues to have a 
positive impact on the young people. This report compares our data 
with that of the other 12 national NLHF Kick the Dust projects through 
the Renaisi evaluation data produced for the NLHF. 
 
Current number of interventions with young people:  
From the start of lockdown to the 6 June 2022 there were a total of 
5,848 interventions, involving 2,190 individual young people taking part 
in 2,931 hours of quality digital activity. Following reopening and 
access to groups on site and in outdoor settings, the team has 
delivered 336 face to face sessions (40% of all delivery) with young 
people across the county, out of a total of 856 sessions delivered 
between March 20 and 6 June 22. This equates to 70% of all activity 
now being delivered face to face.  
 
Total participation numbers from October 2018 are 11,920 
interventions, involving 3,905 individual young people taking part in 
6,063 hours of quality activity, taking us beyond the initial target of 
8000 interventions. Of this activity 4% has been at Pre-Player level 
(YMCA), 26% has been at Player level, 42% at Shaper level and 28% 
at Leader level.  More importantly, of these activities, 82% involve 
young people in leading and designing projects, taking on the role of 
Young Ambassador and playing a leading part in the Youth Board. 
Breakdown of activity taking place in each area since October 2018:  
• 47% (1,282 opportunities) in the West (covering Kings Lynn, 

Thetford and Gressenhall), (56% face to face in May) 
• 28% (764 opportunities) in the East (covering Great Yarmouth, 

Cromer and Sheringham) (100% face to face in May) 
• 25% (661 opportunities) in Norwich (57% face to face in May), 
• 282 volunteering opportunities have been provided to 142 individual 

young people.  
 

We continue to develop and deliver an online training offer for all staff 
and volunteers who support youth engagement in NMS. In total 308 
staff have taken part in training since October 2018, with 151 having 
taken up opportunities in lockdown. As we have opened the 
opportunities to volunteers, a further 37 young volunteers have taken 
part in training. Kick the Dust has supported a total of seven young 
people on its bursary traineeship programme, the last cohort finishing 
on the 31 May 22. One Kick the Dust participant progressed onto the 
NMS Teaching Museum traineeship programme. We have recruited a 
further seven Young Ambassadors to support Institutional Change 
within NMS and to join the strategic Youth Board and Project Board. 
Staff from our Front of House and Visitor Services teams have taken 
part in Autism Awareness training Removing Barriers for young people 
and we have arranged further onsite training in June for front of house 
teams to consider how their spaces can be made more inclusive. A 
front of house supervisor based at Norwich Castle stated ‘It’s been 
great to see customer focused enthusiasm again from the team, as a 
result we plan to have a small group who will regularly look at ways in 

36



which we can improve access, be more aware and more inclusive as a 
team.’ 
Our offer to support staff and volunteers around the important theme of 
mental health and wellbeing is on-going and additional training to 
support staff working with young people facing more complex needs is 
to be delivered in conjunction with colleagues from Leicester YMCA, Y-
Heritage, as we embark on a potential new partnership bid to the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund. The new training programme 
accommodates the needs of staff and includes opportunities for front of 
house staff to take part, linked to the new outcome in our Institutional 
Change evaluation findings focusing on equipping staff to feel confident 
in working with young people facing more complex barriers to 
engagement as well supporting front of house and visitor services staff 
to have increased awareness of the opportunities to engage with young 
people.  
 
NMS and NCC colleagues continue to work together through the 
‘Making Creative Futures’ group where members from across NCC 
Children’s Services identify ways to engage the hardest to reach and 
most vulnerable children and young people through a joint effort. The 
group continues to play a key part in the delivery of activity as part of 
the DfE funded Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) project through the 
Big Norfolk Fun programme (Big Norfolk Holiday Fun - Active Norfolk) 
and through our own contributions to this through our Kick the Dust 
offer. The focus is now on mental health and wellbeing, with activity 
taking place across the county in support of Creativity and Wellbeing 
week in May.  
 
Breakdown of respondents 
The age ranges reflect the way the team is currently working and 
having access to young people through partners. We continue to work 
with a higher number of older young people as we work with YMCA 
clients and those from the University of East Anglia and Norwich 
University of the Arts who are aged 18-25 years of age. Whilst the 
number of young people aged 11-16 years is lower than the older age 
groups, this allows this group to progress through the programme.  
 
The comparison with the Renaisi national data is in brackets and 
highlights the changes since the last Renaisi report in 2020. Across all 
12 Kick the Dust projects, the largest proportion of participants were 
from the 17-19 category (24%), while the largest proportion in Years 2 
and 3 of the project came from the 14-16 category (32%). 
Approximately half of participants (49%) were aged 11-16 in Years 2 
and 3, compared to 32% in this final year. The reasons cited by Renaisi 
for this change is that young people are engaging in deeper levels of 
engagement than in previous years which in turn could explain why 
participants are from the older age groups. Whilst this is the case for 
Kick the Dust Norfolk, we are providing a range of shaper and leader 
opportunities for young people across all age groups participating 
although the older age groups tend to be engaged at Leader level.  

37

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.activenorfolk.org%2Fpublic%2Fbignorfolkholidayfun%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cchristine.marsden%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C06e8e0ff6a434e552f0008d9ab5f3e5f%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637729247816157306%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=FVWxIkmYy4srQZHvho9oqJBo4VCKjgRIbiV6t%2BP50DM%3D&reserved=0


 7%  aged 11-13 years (15%) 
 13% aged 14-16 years (17%) 
 29% aged 17-19 years (24%) 
 27% aged 20-22 years (22%) 
 24% aged 23-25 years (23%) 

 
Data is collected around ethnicity through the Young People’s 
Feedback form (should they choose to answer this question) and is 
based on the descriptions used by the NLHF: (Renaisi data is shown in 
brackets) 
 
Breakdown of ethnicity: 
• Asian – 3%  (5%) 
• Black- 1.5%  (7%) 
• Arab – 0.7%  (1%) 
• Irish traveller – 0.7% (1%) 
• Mixed ethnic – 4%  (5%) 
• White – 90%  (70%) 

 
Those who chose to respond to the question on whether they had a 
physical or mental disability which can be a barrier to engagement is as 
follows: 
• Disabled – 21%  (9% in Renaisi data) 
• Non-disabled – 15%   
• Preferred not to answer – 64% 
A large number chose not to answer this question but a further 6% of 
young people added that additional barriers to their engagement 
included transport and finances.  
 
How young people are finding out about Kick the Dust has changed 
since the beginning of the project with 16% coming to us through social 
media posts and the new Kick the Dust web pages, 10% through flyers 
and posters, 19% through friends or a family member and 12% from 
having taken part in a previous Kick the Dust activity. Strong 
partnerships with NCC Children’s Services and other cultural and youth 
organisations accounts for 43% of young people being signposted to 
Kick the Dust 
 
Target audiences: (some young people fall into more than one 
category) 
 FE/HE – 35% 
 YMCA clients – 34% 
 Secondary schools – 24% 
 Young people with mental health issues – 20% 
 SEND – 9% 
 Outside of mainstream education – 7% 
 Looked after children and adopted living those at home - 5% 
 NEET – 6% 
 Young Offenders and those at risk of offending – 4% 
 Care Leavers – 3% 

38



 Young Carers – 2% 
 New arrivals and refugees – 2% 
 Pregnant young mums and teenage parents – 1% 
 
As part of the feedback, young people are asked how aware they are of 
the range of job roles available within NMS and the heritage sector and 
how they perceive museums in terms of being spaces for young 
people.  
 
 Before taking part in a KTD programme, 77% of young people 

stated they had little or no knowledge of job roles in NMS or the 
heritage sector. After their engagement 61% of these young people 
stated they now had a good understanding of the different job roles 
available in the sector and a further 36% felt more knowledgeable. 
91% stated that the skills they had learnt would be useful to them in 
the future (Renaisi 92%). This shows that Kick the Dust as a 
programme enables young people to gain a greater understanding 
of the opportunities within the heritage sector and develop 
transferable work skills.  

 Following their engagement, 88% felt that museums were a space 
they would use in the future. 

 
When we compare all our data to the Renaisi findings, (which uses 
data from October 2020 to September 2021 across all 12 national Kick 
the Dust projects), it shows we are in line with other Kick the Dust 
projects, scoring higher in 9 of the 13 areas. (The Renaisi responses 
can be found in the brackets).   
 
Following their engagement: 
 80% of young people felt that there were jobs for young people like 

themselves to work in heritage with 13% not sure and needing to 
find out more. (Renaisi 67%). 

 90% of young people said they had learnt new and interesting 
things about heritage (Renaisi 85%); 85% of young people felt that 
heritage represented young people like them (Renaisi 73%) 

 81% of young people said they were more likely to become a 
volunteer because of their involvement in KTD (Renaisi 78%) and 
81% stated they would be looking to take part in other local heritage 
events as a result of their engagement (Renaisi 73%). 

 96% of young people stated they felt welcomed and respected by 
staff (Renaisi 95%) and 84% felt a sense of achievement (Renaisi 
82%).  

 90% felt heritage delivered in this way would engage other young 
people (Renaisi 92%) with 81% of young people stating they now 
had a better understanding of heritage having taken part in the 
programme although 19% weren’t sure and needed more 
engagement. (Renaisi 85%) 

 64% of young people felt they had the opportunity to influence 
decisions. (Renaisi 64%) 

39



 92% stated there was something for everyone irrespective of 
background (Renaisi 91%) although this needs to be put into 
context of other demographic data for Norfolk.  

 98% of young people felt that the programme was easy and 
affordable to get involved in but had concerns that they may not be 
able to do this in the future if there was a significant cost to them 
with 50% of this number stating financial concerns as a barrier. 
(Renaisi 93%). 

 78% of young people said they had found heritage more relevant 
than they had before embarking on their Kick the Dust journey with 
19% neither agreeing nor disagreeing (Renaisi 81%).  

 
Summary 
The Kick the Dust project is clearly demonstrating a positive impact on 
young people and staff engaging in activity. As we deliver activity 
through our new blended offer of face-to-face activity and online 
engagement, this impact is increased further as more staff engage in 
the co-delivery of activity and see the benefits to their own 
development. This has been seen in the delivery of current exhibitions, 
curation, and collections. 
Kick the Dust was set up as a three-stage journey, with young people 
developing transferable work-related skills and gaining experiences 
that they would struggle to find elsewhere, to support them in securing 
employment. Whilst young people cite being involved in curation and 
creating exhibitions as the main areas they have enjoyed, it is through 
these activities that they hone their skills and understanding of the 
workplace, which will help them secure employment longer term.  
Our aim as we move forward is to support more working age young 
people to progress into employment, training or further learning and 
long-term volunteering. We have seen young people move through the 
programme, gaining the confidence to take on volunteering roles within 
NMS, others securing their first job through the Government’s Kick 
Start 6-month placement programme; three young people who have 
taken up positions within NMS front of house teams, eight young 
people progressing onto the Teaching Museum and Kick the Dust 
bursary traineeship programme following their engagement in Kick the 
Dust, one young person progressing onto Teacher Training, and seven 
young people taking on the Young Ambassador and Young People’s 
Champion roles, one of whom has recently secured a position with 
Norfolk and Norwich Festival. Others have stated that their involvement 
has helped them make choices around subjects and options at school 
and college. 
 
Quotes from participating young people 
‘Make Yarmouth & Saturday Art Club have influenced me to do more 
creativity and thanks to Kick the Dust for helping and supporting us. I 
was really shy when I started and didn’t speak much. I feel quite 
confident and have improved a lot more by being here and learning and 
artists and the history of Time and Tide’ (Young Carer in the East). 

40



‘M chose film production after a National Saturday Club taster session 
at East Norfolk Sixth Form. She is now applying for a volunteering role 
as a result.’ (Project Worker East) 
‘I still thought it was worth emailing to say thank you for the photos of 
the museum club enjoying the trail, it's so lovely to know they gave it 
such positive feedback as well! It was a lovely project to be involved in 
and I feel I have learned a lot about creating heritage projects in more 
practical terms, so thank you for that. I also hope that when I have the 
time there are more Kick the Dust projects I can get involved in!’ 
(Young Person on the Faith and Ritual YAF project) 
‘It was a wonderful opportunity to be able to be a part of the SHARE 
organising group, so thank you for having young people, like myself, 
involved at an organising capacity at this event. It was very insightful 
and I learnt a lot. Thank you also for being so patient and helpful with 
my questions!’ (Lily - Young Ambassador KTD) 
Following the event Lily secured a job with Norfolk & Norwich Festival 
in Kings Lynn – ‘I have been successful in a job application (which I'm 
so happy about!!), to work at Kings Lynn Festival as their 'events and 
communications intern' 
'Kick the Dust has helped me to gain real-life experience within the 
museum and heritage sector. I was able to curate, organise and 
develop my own creative project which has since been on display in 
numerous venues in Norfolk. As a result of this, I have been able to 
kick start my career as a project coordinator within the arts and culture 
sector. Without the hands-on experience that Kick the Dust gave me, 
and the help and knowledge of the scheme's organisers, I wouldn't 
have had the experience or confidence to start applying for the jobs I 
once dreamed of.' (Young person on the online work experience 
programme.) 
 
Take up continues to expand through the establishment of new 
partnerships with schools, colleges, Children’s Services, and other 
cultural organisations as well as Job Centre Plus and Norfolk and 
Waveney MIND. The launch of the new Kick the Dust web pages on 
the NMS site https://www.museums.norfolk.gov.uk/join-and-
support/kick-the-dust is bringing traffic and enquiries from young 
people who would not ordinarily come to us through our existing 
partnerships which will support this growth and solidify the way NMS 
approaches youth engagement going forward. 
 
Planning is now in place to consider the next steps for Kick the Dust 
and Norfolk Museums Service Youth Engagement strategy. Work with 
Y Heritage, another Kick the Dust project based in Leicester YMCA, 
has started with the first exchange visit to our region between 23-25 
May. This legacy work will support a new bid and highlight the need for 
a new project based around the principles of Kick the Dust but 
embedding our work with SHARE Museums East to embed learning 
within a wider range of museum and heritage organisations across the 
East of England building on our current successes and approach to 
youth engagement.  

41

https://www.museums.norfolk.gov.uk/join-and-support/kick-the-dust
https://www.museums.norfolk.gov.uk/join-and-support/kick-the-dust


 
6. Visitor numbers   

 
6.1 Visitor figures for the period will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
 
7. Recommendations: 

 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report  

 
Originator of report: 
Andrew Smith 
Operations Manager – East & West, Norfolk Museums Service 
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, Gressenhall, Dereham, Norfolk NR20 4DR 
Tel: 01362 869254 e-mail: andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk  

42

mailto:andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk


Forest Gardens for Schools
Platinum Jubilee Norfolk 

SUMMER 2022

AUTUMN 2022 -
SUMMER 2023

AUTUMN 2023
Harvest festival celebration at
pilot schools
Evaluation of learning outcomes

Site preparation and planting
sessions in schools.
Monitoring and maintenance.
Documenting the process from
the teachers perspectives &
resource creation for sharing
the model.
Promotion to new schools.

Forest garden workshops for
local schools at Gressenhall
tree nursery, utilising a mobile
classroom. 
Sessions in schools working
with children to survey existing
plants to create school
herbariums.
Identifying sites, selecting
plants and designing school
forest gardens.

WHY FOREST GARDENS?
Despite the name, forest gardens can be made
in small spaces and are composed of multiple
layers  from a canopy of fruit and nut trees, to
shrubs, herbs, vines right down to perennial
vegetables. They provide a self-sustaining, low
maintenance  plant-based food production
system based on woodland ecologies.  Children
involved in designing and building forest
gardens will benefit by becoming more aware
of their environment and developing new skills
as they work together to co-create more
sustainable, biodiverse spaces that also yield
food.

PROJECT TEAM
Ben Earle, Learning and Engagement Officer at
Gressenhall, is developing a new Environment
Hub at the museum.  He will be teaming up
with expert horticulturalist Nik Thomson, FFDT
Manager Dr Shannon Woodhouse and Dr Jenni
Rant from the SAW Trust to work with local
pilot schools on the creation of forest gardens. 

43


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	7/21 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report
	Breckland Area Museums Copy of Visitors-Feb22
	3 yr Cumlative
	VISITOR COMP 
	CHARTS CUMULATIVE



	8 Ancient House Museum Report
	ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT

	9 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report
	GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT
	Forest Gardens For Schools flier Gressenhall 5.2


